# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW 202016 11:43 a.m.

Flectronically Filed Jan 20 2016 11:43 a.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

# JUDY PALMIERI,

Appellant,

VS.

CLARK COUNTY, a political subdivision of the STATE OF NEVADA; DAWN STOCKMAN, CE096, individually,

Respondents.

Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court for the District of Nevada Order Granting Motions for Summary Judgment

Case No. A-11-640631-C

## APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

CAL J. POTTER, III, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 1988 C. J. POTTER, IV, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 13225 POTTER LAW OFFICES 1125 Shadow Lane Las Vegas, Nevada 89102 Attorneys for Appellant

#

### INTRODUCTION

The Nevada Supreme Court must reverse the Court of Appeals opinion because the intermediate Court exceeded its jurisdiction when it misapprehended the facts of the case, by stating at page 23 at footnote 14 of its opinion, that the County failed to raise the administrative warrant standard in its opening and reply briefs.<sup>1</sup>

The Court of Appeals then held that the District Court failed to apply the proper standard because it applied a criminal standard for probable cause instead of a lesser standard of probable cause for an administrative search. The Court of Appeals then erroneously reviewed the case under the lesser administrative probable cause standard after the District Attorney had already acknowledged that the proper standard was a criminal standard by the arguments and moving papers in the District Court and in its Respondent's Brief in the Court of Appeals.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The County was not the appellant it acknowledged that the warrant was a criminal warrant. Likewise, the Court of Appeals further misapprehended that the Plaintiff/Appellant Judy Palmieri was not the owner of the Meadows Pet Store, or the Bark Avenue Pet Shop. The said stores were owned by Pacific Consolidated Corporation yet the County had previously charged Mrs. Palmieri for the acts of the corporation's employees.

The Court of Appeals does not have the jurisdiction to change the County's concession that the search was criminal rather than administrative. Indeed the Court of Appeals never asked for briefing on the issue, never advised the parties prior to oral argument that it was entertaining an administrative standard for probable cause and therefore denied Judy Palmieri the process that she was due on direct appeal pursuant to the state and federal provisions of the due process clause.

### II.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Mrs. Palmieri was not the legal owner of the Meadow Pets store in the city. Nor was she the owner of Bark Avenue pet store in the County. The pet stores were owned by Pacific Consolidated Corporation. (APP vol. I, 000064). The corporation is owned by her husband Fred Palmieri and Judy Palmieri owns less that 25% (APP vol. I, 000065.) Stockman clearly had the licensing information available to her from both City of Las Vegas and County of Clark business licensing. The Appellate Court's opinion erroneously concludes that the probable cause requirements for administrative inspections and searches of residential and commercial premises is the same.

Both Clark County and the City of Las Vegas have long standing grudges against Mrs. Palmieri. Each entity has subjected Mrs. Palmieri to a pattern of

continued harassment and excessive scrutiny. In a prior criminal case, on April 29, 2007, Clark County Animal Control Officer, Danielle Harney, filed a declaration in support of a warrant and summons for alleged violations which were attributed against Mrs. Palmieri, individually, but should have only been brought against her husband's corporation. Mrs. Palmieri was not even present when the violations were alleged to have occurred. Harney's 2007 declaration was based upon alleged lack of care and treatment of the animals under the care of the corporation.

Ultimately, Clark County Animal Control, by and through Danielle Harney, caused two criminal complaints to be filed against Mrs. Palmieri. These complaints were dismissed against Mrs. Palmieri. The first criminal charges were brought on March 28, 2008 before the Honorable J. Bonaventure. When Mrs. Palmieri refused to plead guilty in that case, Clark County Animal Control filed additional charges against Mrs. Palmieri with the specific purpose of finding criminal activity at the Bark Avenue pet store. These charges took place during an unannounced inspection and were brought against her for twenty-one alleged violations. The second prosecution was initially brought before the Honorable W. Jansen on July 21, 2008. Subsequently, the two matters were consolidated before the Honorable J. Bonaventure. The March 28, 2008 and July 21, 2008 charges

against Plaintiff were ultimately dismissed on May 20, 2009 because the State conceded that the corporation should have been the corporation, not Mrs. Palmieri.

In addition, Mrs. Palmieri was not subject to a consensual inspection when the warrant was executed on her home.<sup>2</sup> There were no exigent circumstances attendant to the warrant and the Animal Control Officer failed to contact Judy Palmieri prior to seeking the warrant as required by Nevada case law.

### III.

#### **ARGUMENT**

The Court of Appeals chose to become an advocate for the County of Clark and Dawn Stockman by raising for the first time that an administrative probable cause has a lesser standard. The County was represented by competent counsel in the District Court and on appeal who both treated the matter as a criminal search warrant.<sup>3</sup> Likewise, the District Court reviewed the matter as a criminal matter.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>At the time of the execution of the warrant Mr. Palmieri was in the shower at her home, She testified in deposition that she heard voices downstairs and found a LVMPD officer, Stockman and another animal control officer, Tory Olson in her kitchen.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>The Motion for Summary Judgment was filed by Chief Deputy District Attorney, by Michael J. Foley, on two occasions. Neither time did he argue for a lower standard for probable cause pursuant to an administrative search warrant. On appeal Matt Christian an experienced attorney and adjunct law professor did not argue a lesser standard of probable cause for a residential search of Mrs. Palmieri's home. Mrs. Palmieri testified in her deposition that Stockman's

The Court of Appeals did not allow Mrs. Palmieri to brief the issue because the Court erroneously states at page 23 of its opinion that the County of Clark did not raise the administrative probable cause and on appeal it did not raise the issue in its opening or reply briefs.

The Court of Appeals claims that it can raise a claim not raised by the Appellant if it deals with a constitutional question. The only case that the Court cites to Desert Chrysler-Plymouth v. Chrysler Corp., 95 Nev. 640, 643-644 (Nev. 1979), which it cites to support the proposition that a Court may address an issue not raised by the Appellant, *sua sponte*, is Mountain States Telephone & Telegraph Co. v. Animas Mosquito Control District, 152 Colo. 73, 380 P.2d 560 (1963).

However, <u>Mountain States</u> is not as broad as the Appellate Court purports. Specifically, Mountain States actually held:

"generally it is not considered good practice for courts to resolve cases on grounds not urged by the parties or their counsel, yet in cases such as we have before us, when much of the argument revolves around which of two words and meanings the legislature intended, and which by either interpretation reveals legislation that is patently unconstitutional and void, and under which many persons are receiving unfair, discriminatory and unlawful

supervisor did not like Mrs. Palmieri because she was a woman. (APP vol. I, 000105, lns. 15-16).

treatment, it is the duty of the courts to resolve the question to the end that citizens may not be deprived of their constitutional rights." Id. at 77, 380 P.2d at 562

However, the facts of this case do not fall within the exceptions which may permit *sua sponte* consideration of constitutional questions. Here, The constitutionality of a statute is not inherently involved nor patently unconstitutional and void. Furthermore, the Court of Appeals here is not reviewing the constitutionality of a statute, but rather is impermissibly changing a material fact which the County already acknowledged before the District Court and in its Answering Brief before the Court of Appeals. That is, Ms. Palmieri was subjected to a *criminal search in her home, not an administrative search* and Mrs. Palmieri was prosecuted in a criminal court not in an administrative court.

A business owner's expectation of privacy in commercial property is less that the privacy interest afforded to a private homeowner and is particularly attenuated commercial property used in "closely regulated" industries *i.e.* airports, railroads, restaurants, and liquor establishments, where premises may be subject to regular administrative searches by state or federal agencies for the purpose of determining compliance with health or safety regulations. Therefore, the Court's reliance upon Camara v. Mun. Court, 387 U.S. 523 (1967) is misplaced because that reliance overlooks the significant liberty interest enjoyed by Mrs. Palmieri

when she is subjected to an invasive search, in her home, that gives rise to criminal charges.

In the case at hand, the purpose of the search was to charge Mrs. Palmieri with crimes and have her answer personally in criminal court. Indeed, Mrs. Palmieri testified that Dawn Stockman told her that the supervisor said words to the effect that animal control had been unable to "get Mrs. Palmieri until now." In the past, the charges against Mrs. Palmieri had been dismissed because they were improperly brought against Mrs. Palmieri rather than the corporation and that other charges in a criminal indictment had also been dismissed.

Additionally, the Court's reliance upon West Point-Perpperell, Inc. V. Donovan, 689 F.2d 950 (11th Cir. 1982), to support deference to the initial magistrates' issuance of the warrant is misplaced because, as the Ninth Circuit has instructed, in a civil rights cases that the existence of probable cause is generally a question of fact for a jury to determine. *See*, McKenzie v. Lamb, 738 F.2d 1005, 1008 (9th Cir. 1984).

Here, the concurring opinion correctly states that the majority opinion does not follow the requirements set forth in <u>Owens v. City of North Las Vegas</u>, 85 Nev. 105, 450 P.2d 784 (1969) and its requirement that the County seek consent

before seeking an administrative warrant. The County's failure to follow Nevada law shows that the clear intent was to seek a criminal search warrant.

Moreover, pursuant to Franks v. Delaware, 438 U.S. 154 (1978)

Stockman's affidavit demonstrated reckless disregard for the truth, by Stockman herself as the affiant. Specifically, during her deposition in this matter,

Defendant Dawn Stockman conceded that Clark Country Animal Control has a policy of failing to adequately investigate complaints and to personally confirm the identity of persons making complaints. Stockman testified as follows:

"Q. Did you make any efforts to identify the individual that you had talked to as being Kaitlyn Nichols?

A. No.

Q. And why is that?

A. That's not our normal procedure. We get thousands of calls. We don't go out and investigate if the person reporting is that person.

Q. Okay. So your actions were pursuant to policy and practice?

A. Correct.

Q. Of your department?

A. Correct.

(APP vol. I, 000164, p. 16, lns. 13-25)

Although Stockman swore to a judge that her affidavit was truthful, during her deposition, Stockman also conceded that her affidavit included several fallacies, inaccuracies, and misrepresentations. Stockman conceded that if the individual filing the complaint was not Kaitlyn Nichols then her report "would all be fictitious" (APP vol. I, 000168, p. 32, lns. 5-6). Likewise, Stockman conceded that she made no effort to determine whether Ms. Nichols was a former employee of Mrs. Palmieri. (Id., p. 32, ln. 7 through p. 33, ln. 18). Additionally, Stockman made no effort to investigate Kaitlyn Nichols' background to determine that Nichols and her roommate Ornealas had both been terminated for theft. (Id., p. 33, ln. 25 through p. 34, ln. 2)

**Stockman made no effort whatsoever to corroborate the purported report**. Stockman did not seek preliminary information, such as a description of the residence. (APP vol. I, 000169, p. 34, lns. 13-15).

Incredibly, Stockman did not even ask the date of the alleged infractions which were the basis of the purported complaint. (Id., p. 36, ln. 1 through p. 37, ln. 13). Stockman likewise did not ever attempt to ascertain the number

of animals alleged to be at Mrs. Palmieri's house. (APP vol. I, 000170, p. 38, lns. 1-6).

Stockman also conceded that the prior contacts which she detailed in her affidavit concerned incidents which were not recent, but on the contrary, which had occurred approximately **two and half to four and years prior**. (APP vol. I, 00172, p. 46, lns. 6-11; p. 49, lns. 18-21). Lastly, Stockman never contacted Officer Jason Elff , whose prior report Stockman claimed necessitated obtaining a search warrant. (Id., p. 49, lns. 12-17). Stockman also dod not advise the Court that Mrs. Palmieri was not the owner of the Meadows Pet Store. Dawn Stockman did not advise the Court that the complainant, Ms. Nichols, had been terminated for theft.

Furthermore, the Appellate Court overlooked Plaintiff's state tort claims because the Court erroneously applied the wrong standard of probable casue.

# 1. Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress and Negligent Infliction of Emotional Distress

The elements of an intentional infliction of emotional distress ("IIED") claim are "(1) extreme and outrageous conduct with either the intention of, or reckless disregard for, causing emotional distress, (2) the

plaintiff's having suffered severe or extreme emotional distress and (3) actual or proximate causation." Star v. Rabello, 97 Nev. 124, 625 P.2d 90, 91-92 (Nev. 1981).

Here, the Defendant intentionally and negligently inflicted emotional distress upon Mrs. Palmieri by searching her residence based upon a warrant which was obtained without probable cause. During the search Mrs. Palmieri was forced to wait in her pajamas without underwear or shoes. Then the County seized Mrs. Palmieri's two elderly dogs and burned the skin of one of the dogs. The County had a duty to investigate complaints made to Animal Control and not execute warrants which were obtained without probable cause. Instead, the County engaged in a series of actions to vex, harass and annoy Mrs. Palmieri in an extended pattern of conduct. As a result, a reasonable jury could find that the County's conduct was outrageous and engaged in reckless disregard for causing Mrs. Palmieri's emotional distress. There exists a genuine issue of material fact as to whether Stockman's statement while executing the warrant, that "Animal Control has never been able to get anything on you until now" demonstrates the County acted with malice, or reckless disregard for, Mrs. Palmieri's

emotional well-being. Therefore, the Court failed to view the evidence in the light most favorable to Mrs. Palmieri.

# 2. Conspiracy

To state a claim for conspiracy, Plaintiffs must demonstrate a combination of two or more persons who, by some concerted action, intend to accomplish an unlawful objective for the purpose of harming another, and that damage has resulted from said act or acts. *See*, <u>Hilton Hotels Corp. v.</u>

Butch Lewis Prods., Inc., 109 Nev. 1043, 862 P.2d 1207, 1210 (Nev. 1993).

It is unlikely that direct evidence of a conspiracy exists. Thus the question of whether an agreement exists should not be taken from the jury so long as there is a possibility that the jury can infer from the circumstances [that the alleged conspirators] reached an understanding to achieve the conspiracy's objectives. An express agreement among all the conspirators in not a necessary element of a civil conspiracy. Hampton v. Hanrahan, 600 F.2d 600, 620-624 (7th Cir. 1979). cert. granted in part, judgment rev'd in part on other grounds, 446 U.S. 754, 100 S. Ct. 1987 (1980); See also, Adickes v. S. H. Kress & Co., 398 U.S. 144, 90 S. Ct. 1598 (1970); Jones v. City of Chicago, 856 F.2d 985 (7th Cir. 1988).

Here, Stockman and Animal Control officers conspired to deprive Mrs. Palmieri's Fourth and Fourteen Amendment rights and Mrs. Palmieri suffered actual harm when Mrs. Palmieri's residence was unlawfully searched and she had false criminal charges filed against her. Therefore, a reasonable juror could infer that the alleged conspirators reached an understanding to achieve the objective of depriving Mrs. Palmieri of her Fourth and Fourteen Amendment rights. Additionally, Stockman's statement that "Animal Control has never been able to get anything on you until now" shows that Animal Control engaged in a pattern of behavior and conspiracy to vex, harass, and annoy Mrs. Palmieri by subjecting her to excessive scrutiny in hope to "get something on her." Consequently, the question of whether an agreement exists should be determined jury.

## 3. Malicious Prosecution

The elements of a malicious prosecution cause of action are: (1) Defendant initiated, procured the institution of, or actively participated in the continuation of a criminal proceeding against plaintiff; (2) Defendant lacked probable cause to commence that proceeding; (3) Defendant acted with malice; (4) The prior proceeding was terminated; and (5) Plaintiff sustained damages. <u>LaMantia v. Redisi</u>, 118 Nev. 27, 38 P.3d 877 (2002).

Want of probable cause is judged by an objective test. The Court is required to determine whether, on the facts known by the attorney, a reasonable attorney would have considered the prior action legally tenable.

Jordan v. Bailey, 113 Nev. 1038, 944 P.2d 828 (1997).

Summary judgment was erroneously granted on Mrs. Palmieri's claim for Malicious Prosecution because there existed questions of fact concerning whether Stockman had probable cause to swear an affidavit for criminal activity when she conducted no investigation whatsoever. The bedrock principle of a malicious prosecution claim is that one who causes or triggers a charge to be filed may be sued for malicious prosecution. In Rizzo v. Goode, 423 U.S. 362, 96 S.Ct. 598, 46 L. Ed. 2d 561 (1976) the Court used the term of the "moving force" in the context of a malicious prosecution in a 42 U.S.C. 1983 action. That means that the fact that Stockman's affidavit was granted by a Judge does not insulate Stockman from liability. In Catrone v. 105 Casino Corp., 82 Nev. 166 414 P.2d 106 (1966), the Supreme Court approved the rule that a person who maliciously procures prosecution by a third person is as liable as if he had instituted the criminal proceeding himself.

Moreover, there exists a question of fact as to whether Stockman acted with malice. In Countrywide Home Loans, Inc. v. Thitchener, 192 P.3d 243, 252 (Nev. 2008) the court defined malice and oppression when they held, ""[m]alice, express or implied' means conduct which is intended to injure a person or despicable conduct which is engaged in with a conscious disregard of the rights or safety of others." "Oppression' means despicable conduct that subjects a person to cruel and unjust hardship with conscious disregard of the rights of the person." The court went on to state that both definitions utilize conscious disregard of a person's rights as a common mental element, which in turn is defined as "the knowledge of the probable harmful consequences of a wrongful act and a willful and deliberate failure to act to avoid those consequences." (Id.). At the summary judgment stage the court was required to accept Plaintiff's contention that during the search Stockman said something to the effect that "we haven't been able to get anything on you until now." Accepting that statement as true and drawing reasonable inferences therefrom there can be no doubt that Stockman's statement corroborates Mrs. Palmieri's allegations that Animal Control had something against her and engaged in a pattern of behavior to "get her."

# IV.

# **CONCLUSION**

The Appellant respectfully requests an Order for full briefing in this matter; or that the case be reversed and remanded for trial.