**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA**

JUDY PALMIERI,

Appellant,

vs.

CLARK COUNTY, a political subdivision  
of the STATE OF NEVADA; DAWN  
STOCKMAN, CE096, individually,

Respondents.

Electronically Filed  
Apr 18 2016 04:29 p.m.  
Tracie K. Lindeman  
Clerk of Supreme Court

Case No.: 65143

**Appeal**

From the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County  
The Honorable Gloria Sturman, District Judge  
District Court Case No. A-11-640631-C

---

**RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

---

STEVEN B. WOLFSON, DISTRICT ATTORNEY  
Nevada Bar No. 1565  
MATTHEW J. CHRISTIAN, DEPUTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY  
Nevada Bar No. 8024  
500 South Grand Central Parkway, Suite 500

## **I. INTRODUCTION**

This case began when Appellant, the owner (or part owner at least) of a pet store, decided to house more than 20 dogs, many of them puppies, in her Las Vegas garage in the May heat. A tip came into local animal control authorities regarding the dogs and their allegedly poor condition. Those animal control authorities did exactly what they are supposed to do – investigate the possibility that animals were being abused. They did so by conducting a minimally-invasive, one-hour search during normal business hours. Animal control officers could not, and did not, arrest Appellant, even though they found what could reasonably be described as a puppy mill.

Rather than accept the fact that she did something wrong, and that even if she had not done anything wrong, the County had a legitimate obligation to investigate allegations of animal abuse, Appellant sued. No stranger to filing lawsuits against animal control authorities, she alleged that her constitutional rights were violated when the authorities obtained the warrant based on the tip. As the theory goes, Clark County and its animal control officer, Dawn Stockman, were required to verify the identity of the tipster, even though there was never any indication that the tipster was potentially an imposter,<sup>1</sup> and despite various efforts that corroborated the basic facts

---

<sup>1</sup> The tipster identified herself as Appellant's employee, Kaitlyn Nichols. Later, during the litigation, Appellant obtained a declaration from someone purporting to

relayed in the tip.<sup>2</sup>

The incident occurred in 2010. Appellant initiated the lawsuit in 2011. The district court denied an early dispositive motion and permitted Appellant to conduct discovery. Indeed, the parties conducted depositions, delving into the details of both the tip and Appellant's previous run-ins with animal control authorities. Appellant had her chance to describe the embarrassment of being in her pajamas during the short search and to accuse the authorities of being "out to get her for years."

When discovery was complete, Appellant then had her chance to convince the district court that she had a case. She failed to do so because there is nothing unreasonable, much less unconstitutional, in conducting a minimally-invasive search to advance the public's interest in protecting animals. Then, in the appeal, lengthy briefs were filed about constitutional law, governmental immunities, and public policy. Given the circumstances of the case, Appellant was forced to advance an untenable theory – that search warrant applicants must verify the identity of citizen informants in every case, regardless of whether there are any indicia that the

---

be the "real" Kaitlyn Nichols who stated she was not the tipster. The declarant could never be deposed, despite best efforts. Thus, it has never been proven that the tipster was not Kaitlyn Nichols.

<sup>2</sup> The tipster relayed, and Stockman corroborated, that Appellant lived at the address and owned a pet store. Stockman also confirmed that Appellant had other complaints against her in the past regarding her mistreatment of animals.

citizen is lying about his or her identity.

The Court of Appeals heard oral argument, giving Appellant another chance to explain her theory. Then, the Court of Appeals took the opportunity of this relatively minor incident to painstakingly author a comprehensive, well-reasoned, and useful opinion about search warrants.

In so doing, the Court of Appeals lived up to the promise made to the people of Nevada when they approved the formation of the Court of Appeals – faster resolution of civil appeals, careful consideration of the issues presented, and more published decisions in areas of the law that need clarification.

Not satisfied that she had every possible opportunity to demonstrate that she has somehow been wronged, Appellant seeks yet another chance. The facts, the law, and the appellate process, however, all require Appellant’s petition to be denied.<sup>3</sup>

**II. BECAUSE APPELLANT FAILED TO COMPLY WITH NRAP 40B, THE PETITION SHOULD BE DENIED FROM THE OUTSET**

**A. This Court’s Standard on a Petition for Review is Extremely Narrow**

“A decision of the Court of Appeals is a final decision that is not reviewed by the Supreme Court except on petition for review.” NRAP 40B(a) (emphasis added).

---

<sup>3</sup> The petition for review contains numerous misstatements of the record and omits certain important details. For the sake of brevity, Respondents simply note that the opinion of the Court of Appeals contains the accurate statement of the facts and procedural history.

The petition “must state the question(s) presented for review and the reason(s) review is warranted.” *Id.* Moreover, the petition “shall succinctly state the precise basis on which the party seeks review....” NRAP 40B(d). “Supreme Court review is not a matter of right but of judicial discretion.” NRAP 40B(a). The Court has outlined a non-exhaustive list of factors that may be considered in exercising this discretion:

- (1) Whether the question presented is one of first impression of general statewide significance;
- (2) Whether the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with a prior decision of the Court of Appeals, the Supreme Court, or the United States Supreme Court;
- (3) Whether the case involves fundamental issues of statewide public importance.

The Court does not appear to have interpreted this rule yet. Nevertheless, based on the history of the creation of the Court of Appeals through Senate Joint Resolution 14 (2011), it is very clear that the purpose of the Court of Appeals is to reduce this Court’s docket, which will thereby both increase the number of published decisions and reduce the time litigants must wait for finality.

To accomplish these goals, this Court’s standard on a petition for review is to be the equivalent of, and as extraordinary as, the United States Supreme Court’s standard on a petition for a writ of certiorari. It is likewise clear that this standard of review is more limited than this Court’s standard on a petition for rehearing or

petition for *en banc* reconsideration. Pursuant to the history of SJR 14, this limited review ensures that the creation of the Court of Appeals does not add a layer of bureaucracy to Nevada’s judicial process.<sup>4</sup>

**B. Appellant Has Failed to Invoke this Court’s Discretion to Review**

With the history of SJR 14 in mind, Rule 40B’s various requirements mandating specificity should be strictly enforced. Here, Appellant’s petition does not specifically state the questions presented, the reason review is warranted, or the “precise basis on which the party seeks review.” There is no attempt to apply any of the three factors this Court has outlined, nor any argument that the Court should

---

<sup>4</sup> An example from the legislative history is as follows:

Justice Hardesty: Senator Brower made a perceptive comment earlier about S.J.R. 14 of the 76th Session adding to judicial bureaucracy. We recognize that neither litigants nor lawyers want to go through a duplicative appellate process. It is costly and wastes time. Our plan eliminates that. Cases assigned to the court of appeals would only be reviewed by the Nevada Supreme Court by certiorari. In the Supreme Court of the United States, less than 1 percent of those cases are considered for review. The Nevada Supreme Court currently hears either petitions for rehearing *en banc* or petitions for reconsideration *en banc*, and we consider 1 percent or less of those petitions. The cases that would be heard by the Nevada Supreme Court and not by the court of appeals would undergo only one appeal and one review. There is no judicial bureaucracy in this plan, which is why we adopted the push-down plan in the first place. There is no need for new court clerks or for additional or separate central legal staff, and the plan does not incur a judicial bureaucracy that duplicates appellate effort.

exercise its discretion for some other reason. One could imagine that this case gives rise to a matter of “first impression of general statewide significance” or that this case “involves fundamental issues of statewide public importance.” However, the petition does explain how or why.

Instead, the petition focuses on an argument that the Court of Appeals “misapprehended the facts of the case” and “chose to become an advocate for the County of Clark.” In other words, Appellant simply contends that the Court of Appeals got it wrong. Thus, Appellant asks for the type of review that necessarily results in a delay in finality, the discouragement of reasoned published opinions by the Court of Appeals, and another layer of judicial bureaucracy.

Even if the petition could be construed as Appellant contending that this case raises an issue of statewide significance or public importance, Appellant waived that argument. On January 30, 2015, this Court ordered the parties to file a statement explaining why this Court should not assign this appeal to the Court of Appeals. On February 3, 2015, Appellant filed her statement. She did not object, nor did she contend that this case was so important that it should stay in this Court, pursuant to NRAP 17(a).

In sum, because Appellant has not demonstrated that this Court should exercise its discretion, the petition should be denied at the outset.

### **III. THE COURT OF APPEALS HAD “JURISDICTION” TO VIEW THE WARRANT AS AN ADMINISTRATIVE WARRANT *SUA SPONTE***

If the Court gets beyond the failure to comply with Rule 40B, Appellant still fails to present any reason to review the Court of Appeals' decision.

**A. Case Law Unambiguously Permitted the Court of Appeals to Determine the Proper Standard**

Appellant fails to distinguish case law permitting an appellate court to raise an issue of constitutional significance *sua sponte*. The Court of Appeals relied on *Desert Chrysler-Plymouth v. Chrysler Corp.*, 95 Nev. 640, 600 P.2d 1189 (1979). There, the department of motor vehicles refused to grant a license to a proposed car dealership pursuant to a statute. In the district court, the proposed dealership asserted the statute was unconstitutional under various theories, but not the separation of powers doctrine. During oral argument, this Court raised the separation of powers issue *sua sponte* and then ordered supplemental briefs. In holding that the Court has power to address an issue not raised below, the Court cited several opinions and then reasoned as follows:

In the case at hand it is appropriate for this court to raise the separation of powers issue; since the statutes were assailed on constitutional grounds, it would be paradoxical for us to uphold the statutes on the grounds raised by the parties, yet ignore a clear violation of the separation of powers doctrine.

*Id.* at 644, 600 P.2d at 1191.

Here, it would have been likewise paradoxical for the Court of Appeals to ignore an issue that it knew to be of fundamental importance. There is no logical

reason to prevent an appellate court for analyzing the merits for what they are.

Any other rule simply wastes time. For instance, if the Court of Appeals had strictly reviewed the district court's decision under the criminal standard, and had reversed, Respondents would simply have to renew their motion for summary judgment, this time pursuant to the administrative standard. The district court would surely grant the motion because the district court already concluded there was probable cause even under the criminal standard. Appellants would apparently appeal again. Years later, we would be back to exactly where we are now, with a well-reasoned decision that thoroughly explores this subject and finds that administrative probable cause did exist, and that even if it did not, qualified immunity would bar the suit anyway.

*Desert Chrysler-Plymouth* has been recognized as good law several times. See, e.g., *Summitt v. State*, 101 Nev. 159, 161, 697 P.2d 1374, 1376, n. 2 (1985) (considering the confrontation clause for the first time on appeal); see also *Beazer Homes Holding Corp. v. Dist. Court*, --- Nev. ---, 291 P.3d 128, 132, n.1 (2012); *Mason v. Cuisenaire*, 122 Nev. 43, 48, 128 P.3d 446, 449, n. 7 (2006).

Other courts agree. See, e.g., *State v. Anderson*, 276 P.3d 200, 211 (2012).

There, the Kansas Supreme Court outlined the following, well-reasoned approach:

Generally, constitutional grounds for reversal are not properly before an appellate court if not addressed by the district court. But an appellate court may consider a constitutional issue raised for the first time on appeal if it

falls within three recognized exceptions: (1) the newly asserted claim involves only a question of law arising on proved or admitted facts and is finally determinative of the case; (2) the claim's consideration is necessary to serve the ends of justice or to prevent the denial of fundamental rights; or (3) the district court's judgment may be upheld on appeal despite its reliance on the wrong ground or reason for its decision.

Here, the issue is whether the warrant was constitutional, which is purely a question of law because all material facts have been construed in Appellant's favor. Respondents contended the warrant was constitutional, and the district court agreed. The Court of Appeals agreed, if for a slightly different reason. *Wyatt v. State*, 86 Nev. 294, 298, 468 P.2d 338, 341 (1970) (holding that "[i]f a judgment or order of a trial court reaches the right result, although it is based on an incorrect ground, the judgment or order will be affirmed on appeal"). Starting over does not serve the ends of justice, especially since the case turns on whether Respondents are immune. *Hobbs v. Ga. DOT*, 785 F. Supp. 980, 985 (N.D. Ga. 1991) (noting that "constitutional immunity is a question of jurisdiction which can be raised at any time during the legal process by either party or *sua sponte* by the Court....even...for the first time on appeal").

**B. The Court of Appeals did not Violate Appellant's "Due Process" Rights When it Viewed the Warrant Under the Administrative Standard**

Just as Appellant failed to take advantage of this Court's invitation to keep this case in this Court, Appellant failed to take advantage of the Court of Appeals'

invitation, albeit implied, to file a supplemental brief. During oral argument, the Court of Appeals specifically asked both lawyers about administrative search warrants. *Palmieri v. Clark County*, 131 Nev. Ad. Op. 102, \* 22, fn. 13 (2015). As such, both lawyers knew that the Court was interested in the difference between administrative and criminal warrants.

Pursuant to NRAP 27, any party may move the Court for any relief. The Rules “shall be liberally construed to secure the proper and efficient administration of the business and affairs of the courts and to promote and facilitate the administration of justice by the courts.” NRAP 1(c). Supplemental briefs are specifically contemplated, if the “court permits.” NRAP 28(c).

Here, either party could have sought leave to file supplemental authorities. By deciding not to, each party waived the right to be further heard on the issue and accepted the risk that the Court of Appeals would form its own opinion on the matter. It simply cannot be said that Appellant was surprised by the opinion or that Appellant had no opportunity to be heard.

#### **IV. REVERSING WOULD BE FUTILE**

##### **A. More Briefing Could Not Result in a Different Decision**

To the extent that Appellant seeks reversal simply because the Court of Appeals considered of the warrant under the administrative standard *sua sponte*, reversal on that basis alone would be futile. As noted above, all that would happen

is that more briefs would be filed, and the district court would still grant summary judgment because if probable cause exists under the criminal standard, as the district court already concluded, then surely it exists under any lesser standard.

Respondents would not be estopped from arguing that the administrative standard applies. *Breliant v. Preferred Equities Corp.*, 112 Nev. 663, 669, 918 P.2d 314, 318 (1996) (noting that party to be estopped must have been successful in its original position).<sup>5</sup>

**B. Whether Probable Cause Actually Existed is Dicta, Not Essential to the Outcome**

To the extent that Appellants are arguing that the warrant actually was a criminal warrant and/or that probable cause did not exist under either the criminal or administrative standard, it actually does not matter because the Court of Appeals held that Respondents were entitled to qualified immunity because the law, whatever it is, was not clearly established at the time Stockman applied for the warrant.

1. Under the Qualified Immunity Doctrine, Appellant Had to Set Forth Substantial Evidence that Stockman Violated a Clearly Established Right

“Under the qualified immunity doctrine, ‘government officials performing discretionary functions ... are shielded from liability for civil damages insofar as

---

<sup>5</sup> Despite what Appellant argues in her petition for review, Respondents never “conceded” that the warrant was criminal in nature. The distinction was just never addressed.

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